#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOs. SC03-446 and SC03-552 (consolidated)

Lower Court Case Nos. 4D02-2584 and 4D02-3315 (consolidated)

JOHN M. and PATRICIA A. HAIRE. CAROLYN SELIGMAN, LAZ and ELLEN SCHNEIDER, SUSAN B. PETERSON, STEPHEN M. WOLFMAN, ROBERT SCHERER, SUSAN and HIRAM FRANK, JUDITH and BERNARD MACNOW, BROWARD COUNTY, MIAMI-DADE COUNTY, CITY OF PLANTATION, CITY OF FT. LAUDERDALE, CITY OF POMPANO BEACH. CITY OF CORAL SPRINGS, TOWN OF DAVIE, CITY OF HOLLYWOOD, CITY OF BOCA RATON and VILLAGE OF PINECREST,

Petitioners,

VS.

#### FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES and STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondents.

#### PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state contends that citrus canker ("canker"), a cosmetic plant disease, presents a substantial economic threat to the citrus industry in Florida. Canker blemishes do not affect the taste or internal quality of the fruit. Canker has no impact, whatsoever, on human health or safety. (T:472).<sup>1</sup> The state has been attempting to eradicate canker in Florida since the 1980s. (A:2:1; T:423).

The state's eradication program removes canker-infected trees and certain healthy trees in the vicinity of infected trees. The healthy trees are destroyed because the state claims they have been exposed to canker bacteria and some may, therefore, become infected. Petitioners have never challenged the removal of infected trees. Rather, Petitioners have been attempting to challenge the state's destruction of the surrounding healthy trees.

Prior to January 2000, the state's policy was to destroy only those healthy trees within 125 feet of an infected tree, (A:2:2), an area comprising about one (1) acre. In January 2000, the state changed its policy, increasing the destruction zone to 1,900 feet, containing over 260 acres (the "1,900-foot zone"). (A:2:13). The 1,900-foot zone was formally codified March 18, 2002, when the state enacted Chapter 2002-11, Laws of Florida (the "Canker Law"). The Canker Law does not provide for payment of full compensation, denies tree owners the opportunity for a meaningful predeprivation hearing, and allowed the state to search all backyards in an entire county with a single area-wide warrant. Petitioners filed suit to challenge the Canker

<sup>&</sup>quot;R" refers to the record on appeal. The complete record covers the November 2000 injunction trial and the inverse condemnation class action. The relevant record for purposes of this proceeding begins at R:2463, with the filing of the amended complaint. "T:\_\_" refers to specified pages in the transcript of the temporary injunction hearing, which is located at R:4362-6129. "A:\_" refers to specific tabs in Petitioners' Appendix filed concurrently herewith, followed by page numbers where applicable.

Law and immediately sought a temporary injunction. (R:2522).

On May 24, 2002, the trial court, having preliminarily found that the Canker Law denies due process and authorizes unreasonable searches, temporarily enjoined the state from destroying healthy trees or searching private yards without consent or a property-specific search warrant. The temporary injunction was based on trial court findings that (1) the 1,900-foot zone is arbitrary because it is not based on reliable science and it will not achieve eradication of citrus canker; (2) the state failed to demonstrate that it could not achieve its goal through less destructive means; (3) because the targeted trees present no imminent threat to the citrus industry, tree owners are entitled to a meaningful predeprivation hearing; and (4) the state's warrantless searches and the area-wide warrant provision of the Canker Law were unconstitutional. (A:1).

The state appealed the temporary injunction. Instead of determining whether the trial court abused its discretion in preserving the status quo pending trial, the district court ruled on the ultimate constitutionality of the Canker Law. Petitioners respectfully request that this Court reverse the district court's ruling.

### I. Prior Efforts To Challenge The 1,900-Foot Zone.

After first implementing the 1,900-foot zone in January 2000, the state quickly destroyed over 500,000 residential citrus trees. (A:2:1). In July 2001, after the district court ruled that Petitioners' original complaint for injunctive relief must be dismissed for failure to exhaust administrative remedies, Petitioners prevailed in a rule challenge, proving the 1,900-foot zone was an unadopted rule. The Administrative Law Judge found that the rule should have been adopted by December 1999, and that the state's failure to do so rendered the 1,900-foot zone "practically immune" from scrutiny. *Broward County v. Dept. of Agriculture*, DOAH Case No. 00-4520RX, *aff'd Dept. of Agriculture v. Broward County*, 816 So.2d 609 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). (A:3:54, 63).

This ruling prevented the state from using the 1,900-foot zone prior to rule adoption. §120.56(4)(d), Fla. Stat. (2001).

Claiming the citrus industry faced imminent catastrophe, the state responded by adopting an emergency rule permitting immediate resumption of the 1,900-foot zone. Fla. Admin. Code R. 5BER01-1 (2001). The First District Court of Appeal stayed the emergency rule and authorized an immediate challenge to the 1,900-foot zone. (A:4). The state avoided challenge by withdrawing the emergency rule. (A:4).

In November 2001, nearly two years after it began using its 1,900-foot zone, the state finally published a proposed rule. Petitioners quickly filed a rule challenge. The state sought certiorari review of several orders resulting from discovery disputes, and filed a petition to disqualify the DOAH Judge. Discovery came to a complete halt until the First District Court of Appeal ruled on the petitions in March 2002. *Dept. of Agriculture v. Broward County*, 810 So.2d 1056 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

The Canker Law was enacted days thereafter, mooting the rule challenge through legislative codification of the 1,900-foot zone. Petitioners challenged the Canker Law and, without the benefit of any discovery,<sup>2</sup> obtained the instant temporary injunction on May 24, 2002. (A:1).

### II. The Instant Temporary Injunction Hearing.

The 1,900-foot zone is based on a study performed by Dr. Timothy Gottwald ("Gottwald"). The trial court found Gottwald's study was so poorly designed and implemented, and so arbitrarily interpreted, it is not a reliable basis for the 1,900-foot zone. (A:1:27-31).

# A. <u>Development of the 1,900-Foot Zone</u>.

By early 1998, the state determined that the 125-foot eradication zone it was then

Petitioners relied principally on public records and the limited discovery obtained in the November 2001 rule challenge.

using was not working. The state asked Gottwald to study canker spread so a new eradication zone could be established.<sup>3</sup>

Gottwald selected study sites comprised of homes in Miami-Dade and Broward counties, collectively containing about 19,000 trees. Each tree would be periodically inspected to determine if it was infected. For each infected tree, a state employee would determine the location of the tree and estimate the date the tree became infected. The estimated infection date, and the location of each infected tree, were then entered into a computer data base. (T:903-04). A computer program measured the distance between each infected tree and the nearest known previously-infected tree, which was deemed the source tree for the new infection. (T:903-04). The spread distances for all infected trees identified during the study were compiled into the spread distance tables appended to Gottwald's report. Gottwald stated that these tables were the foundation for the 1,900-foot zone. (T:619-20, 624).

#### 1. The Data Collected Was Unreliable.

Gottwald conceded that his spread distance tables, and the new eradication radius based thereon, would be reliable only if all infected trees on the study sites were found and only if the infection date for each tree was reliably estimated. (T:622-24). Neither condition was met.

#### a. Infected Trees Were Not Detected.

According to Dr. Stall, a preeminent canker scientist employed by the state, Gottwald's study design prevented all infected trees from being found. (T:203-16). The problem involved the concept of dormancy. Dr. Stall stated that infected trees can become symptomless (dormant) for up to three years, but could spread canker during that time. Additionally, dormant trees may re-develop symptoms at any time.

The problem with the 125-foot radius was not its size but, instead, the state's failure to remove trees before further spread could occur. (T:362; A:2:3).

Gottwald measured spread from the nearest tree with symptoms, ignoring closer source trees which had dormant infections. Gottwald also mis-labeled dormant trees, which redeveloped symptoms during his study, as new infections, and measured spread from the nearest known infected tree even though no spread actually occurred. Both problems lead to an overestimate of spread distance. Gottwald could have used available techniques to "mark" bacteria to verify that canker was spreading only from known infected trees, but he claimed doing so was unworkable. (T:665). Dr. Stall's testimony eviscerated Gottwald's spread distance tables, rendering them useless.

The horribly unreliable nature of visual detection also prevented the state from identifying all infected trees, something necessary to reliably measure spread. (T:620-24, 639-40). Gottwald conceded the unreliability of visual detection, stating that "if the [state] was actually to look at the reliability of visual detection it would send chills up the agency's spine." (T:645). In a pre-publication draft of his report, Gottwald admitted that because of detection problems, the state's inspectors consistently failed to identify infected trees. This admission was, in Gottwald's words, "word-smith[ed]" out of the final draft. (T:637). Because all infected trees were not found, and could not be found given the defective design of Gottwald's study, the spread distance measurements were unreliable.

#### b. <u>Estimated Infection Dates Were Likewise Unreliable</u>.

Finding all infected trees was only the first crucial step. Gottwald testified that the reliability of his spread distance tables also depended on reliable infection dating, which was necessary to determine the source tree for each new infection. (T:622-24). Dr. Stall testified that, because of dormancy and other factors, Gottwald's study design prevented infection dates from being reliably estimated. (T:208-09, 1346-47).

Gottwald responded by misrepresenting facts and repeatedly changing his testimony. First, Gottwald claimed that, to maximize reliability and consistency, his

study design ensured that all infection dating was performed by a single qualified scientist, Dr. Sun. (T:240). Gottwald later claimed that experienced persons helped Dr. Sun estimate some infection dates. (T:622, 629). Later, upon learning that infection dating was done by inexperienced laypersons, Gottwald again changed his story, and claimed that most infection dating was unimportant. (T:810-815, A:5).

## 2. The Data Collected Was Arbitrarily Manipulated.

Gottwald testified repeatedly that the data contained in his spread distance tables would determine the new destruction zone. (T:247-49, 624, 660, 840, 1032-33). Dr. John Scoggins, an expert econometrician, reviewed the spread distance tables in the three primary drafts of Gottwald's report. (T:92). The first draft was relied on by the state to initially implement the 1,900-foot zone in January 2000. The second was Gottwald's initial publication of the data. The third was the current draft at the time the Canker Law was enacted. These drafts contain major inconsistencies. For example, the beginning number of infected trees inexplicably dropped from 64 to 50 to only 9 in the successive drafts. (T:100). The average purported spread distance dropped 77% from 3,924 feet to only 915 feet. (T:104).

Rather than adjust the radius size based on the new data, Gottwald decided to ignore most of it. Despite collecting data covering 25 time periods, Gottwald ignored the spread distance measurements for all but the first 4. (T:104-12, 634). Ignoring 84% of data collected violates a fundamental scientific principle requiring that conclusions be dictated by the actual data, not by an arbitrary selection of data. (T:106-07). Because of these and other irregularities, Dr. Scoggins testified that the Gottwald study cannot credibly predict the spread of canker. (T:113-14).

In an attempt to explain these inconsistencies, Gottwald first claimed data were withheld from earlier drafts. (T:243, 826). Next he claimed the data stayed the same but the analysis changed. (T:253, 902-04). It is impossible to determine why

Gottwald's numbers shifted so radically without seeing the actual data.

# 3. The "Capture Percentage" Was Arbitrarily Determined.

After trying to document spread, Gottwald determined the percentage of spread that must be eliminated to achieve eradication. Gottwald testified that, to eradicate, a destruction zone must be sufficient to remove an amount of bacteria exceeding the reproduction rate. Gottwald also said an eradication zone would be "draconian" if it included all spread, since some of the spread could be caused by humans, which is completely random and uncontrollable.<sup>4</sup> (T:329, 350, 659-60, 741-42).

Gottwald guessed that <u>95%</u> of spread must be eliminated, which purportedly corresponded to a 1,900-foot zone. (T:793-95, 861; A:6). Gottwald admitted that such a high percentage is not always necessary, and admitted he never studied or even read that such rate is necessary for canker. (T:899-02). If Gottwald's guess was wrong, and, instead, merely by way of example, the necessary rate is only <u>90%</u>, even assuming Gottwald's spread distance observations were accurate, a 1,200-foot radius would be appropriate. (A:6). This smaller radius contains only 104 acres, which would result in <u>60% less destruction of healthy trees</u>.

# B. The 1,900-Foot Zone Will Not Achieve Eradication Short of Destroying Every Citrus Tree In The State.

There was also evidence the 1,900-foot zone would not achieve eradication. The strongest evidence came from Gottwald. Gottwald admitted he does not expect the 1,900-foot destruction to achieve eradication, analogizing the likelihood of success to a roll of the dice.<sup>5</sup> (T:647-48; A:7:12). Even if temporarily eliminated, Gottwald

Despite recognizing that human spread events must be identified to ensure the eradication zone is not "draconian," Gottwald admitted he never tried to determine whether any of the longer spread events he observed resulted from random, uncontrollable human movement. (T:327-28, 920-21, 927-28).

In yet another example of Gottwald misrepresenting facts in an attempt to extricate himself from pre-litigation public statements, Gottwald claimed his

conceded canker will return again and again and again. (T:649, 890-91).

Additionally, the trial court asked Gottwald how eradication can be achieved if the zone captures only 95% of spread. Gottwald stated the key is to immediately inspect the surrounding area to catch the remaining 5% of newly infected trees before new spread occurs. (T:274, 663-64). Gottwald admitted that this critical condition assumes an ability to quickly detect canker, (T:663-64, 874), an assumption at odds both with Gottwald's frequent statements regarding the unreliability of detection and with the testimony of the state's top eradication program managers.<sup>6</sup>

# C. Gottwald's Study Did Not Address, And The State Did Not Demonstrate, That The Mandated Destruction Is Narrowly Tailored.

Aside from finding the 1,900-foot distance arbitrary, the trial court found that the very design of Gottwald's study was the antithesis of narrow tailoring. The trial court noted the complete lack of any effort by the state to determine whether and how far canker would spread if known infected trees were promptly discovered and removed or if any other efforts were made to limit spread. (A:1:28-9; T:247). Gottwald's study did the opposite. Thousands of known infected trees were left standing on the study sites for up to two years. (A:2:3, 5-9, 12).

Even Dr. Scherm, a state epidemiological expert, admitted that Gottwald's study tried to measure spread under a regimen inconsistent with the crucial protocol of trying to prevent spread, and that, during Gottwald's study, canker was being permitted to

uncertainty over whether eradication could be achieved was due to injunctions and other litigation barriers. The documents included in A:7, however, show his "roll of the dice" analogy was used more than a year before any litigation commenced.

Like Gottwald, the state conceded that frequent, high quality inspections leading to early detection, and subsequent prompt removal, are essential to eradication success. The state's experts advised the state of the <u>urgency</u> of removing all infected trees within 14 days after prompt detection. (T:371-72). In southeast Florida, the state has historically taken several months, after detection, to remove <u>infected</u> trees. (T:414-18).

spread at will. (T:1595). Dr. Scherm also admitted the study shed no light on what the appropriate destruction zone would be if infected trees were promptly removed. (T:1608-09). Thus, even if Gottwald's study had been perfectly executed, its very design would still yield an arbitrarily large eradication zone.

The state's top eradication managers conceded the destruction radius was substantially increased because destroying "exposed" trees, which the state considers valueless, was cheaper and more convenient than more frequent inspections. (T:389-94, 412-13). According to these managers, by clear-cutting trees in 1,900-foot zones, the state can save substantial money on tree inspections, and the savings from this "tradeoff" can be used to pay for more tree destruction. (T:389-94). Because Brazil's eradication program focuses on timely inspections rather than destruction, Brazil destroys about 90% fewer healthy trees in the name of eradication than does Florida. (T:643, A:8:302-04).

Gottwald also candidly admitted that the 1,900-foot zone includes some unquantified "fudge factor," a phrase that cannot be reconciled with the concept of narrow tailoring. (T:640-42). If that "fudge factor" involves only a 5% additional capture (95% instead of 90%), the destruction zone is 150% too large (260 acres instead of 104). (A:6).

The state never explained why some of the world's leading citrus-producing nations are able to manage citrus canker yet canker would destroy Florida's juice-based industry. Gottwald admitted that, even where canker is endemic, the use of windbreaks can effectively control canker in groves. (T:607-08). Another state expert stated that high-quality fruit meeting fresh market standards can be produced even in canker endemic areas. (T:750-51). The trial court found the state made no effort to determine whether canker spread could be contained through common pest management techniques. (A:1:28-29).

# D. <u>The Targeted Healthy Citrus Trees Present No Threat, And No Imminent Threat, To The Citrus Industry.</u>

## 1. <u>"Exposed" Trees Are Unlikely To Become Infected.</u>

Only infected trees can spread canker. Few trees "exposed to infection" will become infected. Gottwald testified that canker bacteria landing on a healthy citrus tree will not cause infection unless very specific conditions are present. (T:1484-85). Gottwald further testified that, if exposure is going to result in infection, symptoms will appear on a tree within 7-14 days. (T:274). Petitioners presented examples of "exposed" trees well within the 1,900-foot zone that remained healthy years after alleged exposure. (A:9; T:39-40, 159-64, 274, 1078-1086). These examples were consistent with Gottwald's findings. Of the 19,000 trees Gottwald studied over 2 years, only 18% purportedly became infected. (T:610-11; A:2:5-9).

# 2. Even Infected Trees Distant From The Citrus Growing Region Present No Imminent Threat To The Citrus Industry.

Two crucial facts were not disputed by the state. First, southeast Florida is sufficiently far removed from the commercial growing region that the state used southeast Florida as its living laboratory to conduct the Gottwald study, leaving thousands of known infected trees standing for up to two years. (A:2:3, 5-9, 12). Second, the state routinely allows known infected trees in southeast Florida to remain in place for several months after they are identified. (T:414-18).

# E. Appealing An IFO Is Not A Meaningful Predeprivation Remedy.

The Canker Law permits the state to issue immediate final orders ("IFOs") notifying property owners that their healthy trees will be destroyed within ten days unless the property owner, within those ten days, files an appeal, pays the \$250.00 filing fee and obtains a stay from a district court of appeal. Obtaining a stay within ten days, and maintaining the stay pending appeal, is virtually impossible. (T:1156-80, 1217-20). The trial court preliminarily concluded that the state's use of IFOs denies

access to courts and is "nothing more than a thinly veiled scheme designed to avoid the due process rights of citrus tree owners." (A:1:24).

#### F. Search and Seizure Issues.

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