# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. SC03-446 AND SC03-552 (CONSOLIDATED)

## JOHN M. and PATRICIA A. HAIRE, et al.,

Petitioners,

v.

# FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES and STATE OF FLORIDA,

# Respondents.

# ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT FLORIDA DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE AND CONSUMER SERVICES

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Elliot H. Scherker, Esq. Elliot B. Kula, Esq. Greenberg Traurig, P.A. 1221 Brickell Avenue Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: 305-579-0500

Facsimile: 305-579-0723

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The constitutionality of the 2002 citrus canker law is purely a question of law, reviewable by the Court *de novo*. While the form of the order reviewed is a preliminary injunction, which would ordinarily be reviewed for an abuse of discretion, the injunction is based exclusively on the trial court's determination that the 2002 statute is unconstitutional.

The Fourth District's procedural due process ruling is grounded on the availability of judicial review in Florida's appellate courts. The IFO procedure provides a 10-day window for an aggrieved property owner to seek a stay pending judicial review, and the 2002 law *does* provide both floor compensation and the opportunity to seek additional compensation through inverse condemnation claims.

The Fourth District properly analyzed the 2002 law under a rational basis inquiry, reviewing the evidence *de novo* and concluding that the trial court erroneously predicated the constitutionality ruling on its independent review of the science underlying the statute. It is, of course, not within the court's judicial authority to review the science and to choose between the competing experts. The judiciary must defer to the legislature's determination if there is any reasonable relation between the legislature's goal of eradication and its codification of the 1900-foot removal radius. Presented with a peer-reviewed published study by a leading expert in the relevant field, the trial court's inquiry should have ended. Petitioners'

attempt to circumvent the rational basis standard by contending that the statute deprives citizens of property without just compensation ignores that the Legislature has provided for a minimum compensation to tree owners whose trees are removed, and expressly mandated that claims for additional compensation can be adjudicated by the courts through inverse condemnation claims.

The Court should not reach the Fourth District's ruling on the search and seizure issues on this discretionary review which is predicated on the declaration of the constitutionality of section 581.184, which has no applicability to the statutory construction issues raised by Broward here regarding search warrants. Petitioners' search and seizure arguments are without merit in any event. Strict construction of Chapter 933 is perfectly consistent with allowing a single application for multiple warrants where the application and each warrant specifically identify the property to be searched under that warrant. Similarly, the use of an electronic signature by the issuing judge is entirely consistent with established legislative and judicial authority.

### **ARGUMENT**

# The finality of the issues adjudicated and the standard of review.

Broward argues that the trial court's order reviewed by the Fourth District granted only a "temporary injunction," that the order was reviewable for abuse of discretion, and that the statute's constitutionality was not ripe for plenary review. Not so. Broward misapprehends both the trial court's order and the applicable standard of review, and the case law upon which it relies is not supportive.

### A. The order.

The trial court acknowledged the finality of its ruling, which adjudicated "the fundamental constitutionality of a statute." (A:28:6-7). The court stated in its conclusion that: (i) the 2002 canker law violates federal and state constitutional protections against unreasonable searches and seizures; and (ii) the science on which the legislature relied "is not constitutionally acceptable as a basis for" the legislation. *Id.* at 30. Most tellingly, the order expressly reflects the trial court's recognition that there remained pending only "a trial upon damages under prevailing inverse condemnation law," and that "[a]fter appellate review . . . all questions of law here resolved will become law of the case." *Id.* at 6. *And see Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1047, n.2.9

Broward argues that a temporary injunction cannot decide the merits of a case, that a party is not required to prove its case in full in a temporary injunction, and that findings at a temporary injunction are moreover not binding at trial. Broward's Brief at 17. These general principles are not applicable here, however, and a review of the two cases upon which Broward relies is instructive. The Fourth District's decision in *Cox v. Florida Mobile Leasing Co.*, 478 So. 2d 1200 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), does not provide any factual context within which the general rule was applied, and the United States Supreme Court's decision in *University of Tex. v. Camerisch*, 451 U.S. 390 (1981), upon which *Cox* relies, expressly states that the "general" rule limiting

This Court's order denying bypass certification, *Florida Dep't of Agric. & Consumer Servs. v. Haire*, 824 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 2002), is not to the contrary and, in fact, did not pass on the finality of the trial court's order.

the finality of temporary injunction proceedings rest on the assumption that decisions made in that context are usually made in haste, do not purport to determine the actual merits of the controversy, and are based upon abbreviated proceedings that merely forecast the full evidentiary presentation that would follow in a full-blown trial. *Id.* at 397.

This assumption certainly presents circumstances radically different from those presented in this case. Here, the injunction was entered following a 10-day evidentiary hearing spanning three weeks which incorporated the additional evidence and testimony taken in a prior three-day evidentiary hearing, and which commenced 17 months into the citrus canker litigation. Moreover, prior to the hearing, Petitioners received voluminous discovery responses, including responses to public records requests and document requests, and answers to interrogatories, and they deposed numerous Department personnel and officials, including the Deputy Commissioner charged by the Commissioner with the primary responsibility for implementing the Program. The parties also had the benefit of prior administrative and judicial proceedings in which the Program was examined, including appeals therefrom.

Moreover, the trial court's order expressly declared the 2002 citrus canker law unconstitutional as the sole predicate for enjoining the Department from going forward with the Program as to any citrus tree located anywhere in Florida, not just those owned by Petitioners and not just those in Broward County. The constitutionality issue, not just a temporary injunction for those Petitioners in

Broward County,<sup>10</sup> was fully litigated. If additional proceedings were conducted, and Petitioners afforded the opportunity to present additional evidence in support of their arguments, Petitioners could do no more than inflame the "battle of the experts" and invite the trial court to once again impermissibly subject the legislature's choice to courtroom factfinding. Such circumstances are wholly unlike those considered in *Camerisch* and *Cox*.

Broward furthermore misplaces its reliance on *Identifax Investigative Serv. v.*Viera, 620 So. 2d 1147 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993), when it suggests that, to the extent the trial court's order does constitute a final ruling on the constitutionality of the 2002 canker law, the trial court erred and the Fourth District should have reversed and remanded for another trial. In *Identifax*, the Fourth District disapproved on procedural grounds the trial court's ruling on the merits in the context of an order denying a temporary injunctive relief request, and thereby effectively foreclosed the parties from proceeding to litigate the merits at a final injunction hearing. Here, in contrast, the trial court granted the injunctive relief requested, predicated on the underlying ruling that the 2002 canker law is unconstitutional and based on evidence determined by the court to be sufficient for the purpose it was submitted. Unlike *Identifax*, here there was nothing further to be presented to the court other than additional debate among the experts, which the Fourth District correctly held cannot

-

Of course, the geographic scope of an injunction is limited to the circuit in which it is entered. *Health Care Servs., Fla. Inc. v. Shevin,* 311 So. 2d 760, 760-61 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), appeal dismissed, 334 So. 2d 608 (Fla. 1976); *Miami Health Studios, Inc. v. State ex rel. Gerstein,* 294 So. 2d 365, 367 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974); accord, e.g., Lakeland Ideal Farm & Drainage Dist. v. *Mitchell,* 122 So. 516, 518 (Fla. 1929).

affect the merits of the due process claim. In other words, the trial court's ruling on this point in favor of the plaintiffs-petitioners effectively obviated the need for the court to hear further argument on the constitutionality of the canker law, and Petitioners, having prevailed in the trial court, should not be heard to complain that the trial court cut their presentation short.

## B. Standard of review.

While an order granting injunctive relief is reviewed for abuse of discretion, *Infinity Radio, Inc. v. Whitby,* 780 So. 2d 248, 250 (Fla. 4th DCA), *review denied,* 796 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 2001), when the injunction order rests on purely a legal matter (*e.g.*, the constitutionality), that underlying ruling is reviewed *de novo. Lowe v. Broward County,* 766 So. 2d 1199, 1203 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), *review denied,* 789 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 2001); *State, Dep't of Ins. v. Keys Title & Abstract Co. Inc.,* 741 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), *review denied,* 770 So. 2d 158 (Fla. 2000). The Fourth District in this case properly reviewed the trial court's order *de novo* insofar as it declared the 2002 citrus canker law unconstitutional, a decision that involved purely a question of law, and ultimately declared the statute valid. This Court also reviews the constitutionality of the 2002 canker law *de novo*, and begins with the presumption that the statute is constitutional. *Keys Title,* 741 So. 2d at 601.

# II. The 2002 citrus canker law provides all the process that is due.

# A. Procedural due process.

### (1) The standard.

In *Denney v. Conner*, 462 So. 2d 534 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the court held that the Department "is allowed to act before according basic due process rights" where, as here, a valid emergency has been found to exist. *Id.* at 535 (citation omitted). In *Nordmann v. Florida Dep't of Agric. & Consumer Servs.*, 473 So. 2d 278 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985), the court approved the *Denney* rationale to allow the destruction of trees purchased from a nursery in which citrus canker had been detected, rejecting the property owner's contention that the Department "failed to show imminent danger justifying use of the state police power to destroy the trees." *Id.* at 279.

While the general rule is, of course, that due process is violated when a deprivation of a right has occurred without notice and an opportunity to be heard, *Joshua v. City of Gainesville*, 768 So. 2d 432, 438 (Fla. 2000), the United States Supreme Court has recognized the legitimacy of an immediate seizure of property where: (i) the seizure is "directly necessary to secure an important governmental or general public interest"; (ii) there is "a special need for very prompt action"; and (iii) the person initiating the seizure is a "government official responsible for determining, under the standards of a narrowly drawn statute, that it [is] necessary and justified in the particular instance." *Fuentes v. Shevin*, 407 U.S. 67, 91 (1972); *accord Boddie v. Connecticut*, 401 U.S. 371, 378-79 (1971). Particularly in cases involving property, the Supreme Court has stated:

[I]t is not a requirement of due process that there be judicial inquiry before discretion can be exercised. It is sufficient, where only property rights are concerned, that there is at some stage an opportunity for a hearing and a judicial determination.

Hodel v. Virginia Surface Mining & Reclamation Ass'n, Inc., 452 U.S. 264, 303 (1981); accord Catanzaro v. Weiden, 188 F.3d 56, 63 (2d Cir. 1999).

# (2) The 2002 law satisfies procedural due process.

Broward argues that the 2002 citrus canker law unconstitutionally deprives citrus tree owners of the opportunity for a meaningful pre-deprivation hearing (Broward's Brief at 33), but misstates the record when it repeatedly suggests that "canker... presented no imminent threat at all" and there is "limited spread potential." *Id.* at 34 & n.21. The Department's use of IFOs to eradicate citrus canker in the midst of an undisputed agricultural emergency, in a state where the citrus industry is a major component of the economy, fits squarely within the governing standard.

The nature of citrus canker and the present threat it presents to Florida's citrus industry is well-established, having been recognized by the United States

Department of Agriculture and every branch of the state's government. *Haire*;

Pompano Beach; accord Bonanno, 568 So. 2d at 26. There are, moreover, legislative findings establishing the imminent threat of citrus canker to Florida's citrus industry. See Ch. 2000-308, Laws of Fla., prmbl.

Broward's unfounded contention that the Fourth District found no imminent threat transposes the imminence of the threat in the context of "period of time necessary to get a warrant" because it is unlikely rooted trees will be moved during the limited time (measured in hours or days) before a warrant application is ruled

upon (*Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1057-58), with the many months required for an eminent domain proceeding. A threat which may not be sufficiently "imminent" to dispense with a warrant requirement can certainly be sufficiently "imminent" to obviate a predeprivation eminent domain jury trial. Perhaps most compelling on this point is the undisputed fact that citrus canker is easily spread by wind driven rain. (A:28:2). *And see Haire*, 836 So. 2d at 1043 (*quoting, Pompano Beach*, 792 So. 2d at 542). The Fourth District was eminently correct in drawing that distinction here.

In *State Plant Board v. Smith*, 110 So. 2d 401 (Fla. 1959), this Court anticipated such imminent circumstances when it recognized that citrus diseases, which, like canker, are "carried by the wind or insects," pose the requisite imminent danger under which a post-deprivation compensation hearing is all the process that is due. *Id.* at 408. Because canker spreads by wind-driven rain, once it spreads to the groves it will be too late. Accordingly, *Denney* and *Nordmann* simply do not draw the artificial distinction that Broward proffers between trees located inside groves and those that threaten to infect those same groves. *See* Broward's Brief at 34. That is because canker's spread potential is not "limited," as argued by Broward; the inoculum progresses towards the groves by leaps and bounds with each rain storm, defeating any status quo preservation that might ordinarily result from a temporary injunction. Requiring the state to delay its eradication efforts until after eminent domain jury trials have been completed for each exposed tree would inevitably result in the failure of the Program and the state's eradication effort.

Broward suggests that a distinction lies between an imminent threat to human health and the economic threat that citrus canker presents, and contends that under

the latter a pre-deprivation hearing is required. This contention is at odds with the Florida Citrus Code, in which the legislature recognized the citrus industry's importance to the "health and welfare" of Florida's citizens. §§ 601.02(1) & (2), Fla. Stat. (2002). *And see* § 601.154(1)(g), Fla. Stat. (2002).

Broward also misstates both the record and the governing law, when it contends that the availability of a judicial review of an IFO and a stay "does not provide a meaningful pre-deprivation hearing." Broward's Brief at 35-36.

Principally, the only "irreparable injury" alleged is the removal of trees without an opportunity to be heard. The issue then is whether the remedy of judicial review provided under section 120.68, Florida Statutes (2002), is adequate to permit an IFO recipient to timely seek and obtain a stay from an appellate court within 10 days after the delivery of the IFO, because, obviously, if the trees are not removed then there cannot be irreparable injury. The Fourth District directly adjudicated this issue in *Pompano Beach*, when it held in a prior appeal in this case that the availability of review of IFOs in the district courts of appeal provides an adequate judicial remedy. 792 So. 2d at 542-44, 546. That "law of the case"

\_

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